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OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL

MEMORANDUM GC 18-02 December 1, 2017
TO: All Regional Directors, Officers-in-Charge,

and Resident Officers
FROM: Peter B. Robb, General Counsel

SUBJECT: Mandatory Submissions to Advice

As some of you know, I have worked as a field attorney in Region 5, a supervisor for
the FLRA, and Chief Counsel to a Board Member where I also worked on budget and labor
relations issues. My many years in private practice dealt primarily with NLRA issues. |
have sat where many of you now sit. I have not forgotten what that was like, and I
remember the lessons learned. Itis great to be back. My primary objective will be to assist
you in fulfilling the mission of the Agency.

As you know, the last eight years have seen many changes in precedent, often with
vigorous dissents. The Board has two new members who have not yet revealed their views
on many issues. Over the years, | have developed some of my own thoughts. I think it is
our responsibility to make sure that the Board has our best analysis of the issues. To that
end, I have developed the following guidelines which will serve as my mandatory Advice
submission list, in the tradition of my predecessors as General Counsel. For convenience, I
have tried to group the issues. If you have further questions, please contact Advice.

First, we will base decisions on extant law, regardless of whether I may agree with
the legal principles. Cases should be processed and complaints issued according to existing
law. No new theories will be presented on cases that have been fully briefed to the Board
in order to avoid delay.

Second, again in order to avoid delay, the General Counsel will not be offering new
views on cases pending in the courts, unless directed to by the Board or courts.

Third, cases that involve significant legal issues should be submitted to Advice.
Significant legal issues include cases over the last eight years that overruled precedent and
involved one or more dissents, cases involving issues that the Board has not decided, and
any other cases that the Region believes will be of importance to the General Counsel.
Regions should submit these cases through brief memoranda that provide the key
procedural dates, the relevant facts, a synopsis of the significant legal issue(s), and a list of
other allegations in the case. Cases where complaint issuance is appropriate under current
Board law, but where we might want to provide the Board with an alternative analysis, may
be submitted at any time after the complaint issues, but must be submitted prior to the
Region filing a brief or other statement of position to the Board on that issue. Advice will
then provide appropriate guidance on how to present the issue to the Board. Examples of
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these kinds of issues are set forth below. These examples do not represent all such legal
issues and also do not imply how the General Counsel will ultimately argue the case.

Examples of Board decisions that might support issuance of complaint, but where
we also might want to provide the Board with an alternative analysis, include:

- Concerted activity for mutual aid and protection
0 Finding conduct was for mutual aid and protection where only one employee
had an immediate stake in the outcome (e.g., Fresh & Easy Neighborhood
Market, 361 NLRB No. 12 (2014) - individual sexual harassment claim)
0 Finding no loss of protection despite obscene, vulgar, or other highly
inappropriate conduct (e.g., Pier Sixty, LLC, 362 NLRB No. 59 (2015))

- Common employer handbook rules found unlawful

O Rules prohibiting “disrespectful” conduct (e.g., Casino San Pablo, 361 NLRB
No. 148 (2014))

0 Rules prohibiting use of employer trademarks and logos (e.g., Boch Honda,
362 NLRB No. 83 (2015))

0 No camera/recording rules (e.g., Rio-All Suites Hotel & Casino, 362 NLRB No.
190 (2015); Whole Foods Market, 363 NLRB No. 87 (2015))

0 Rules requiring employees to maintain the confidentiality of workplace
investigations (e.g., Banner Estrella Medical Center, 362 NLRB No. 137
(2015))

0 Other rules where the outcome would be different if Chairman Miscimarra’s
proposed substitution for the Lutheran Heritage test was applied (see dissent
in William Beaumont Hospital, 363 NLRB No. 162 (2016))

- Purple Communications
o0 Finding that employees have a presumptive right to use their employer’s
email system to engage in Section 7 activities (361 NLRB No. 126 2014)

- Quietflex
o Finding work stoppages protected under the Quietflex standard in a variety
of contexts (including the retail sales floor) and giving heavier weight to
those factors that tend to favor protection (e.g., Los Angeles Airport Hilton
Hotel & Towers, 360 NLRB No. 128 (2014); Nellis Cab Company, 362 NLRB No.
185 (2015); Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 364 NLRB No. 118 (2016))
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Off-duty employee access to property

0 Applying Republic Aviation to picketing by off-duty employees (e.g., Capital
Medical Center, 364 NLRB No. 69 (2016), equating picketing with handbilling
despite greater impact on legitimate employer interest (including patient
care concerns))

o0 Finding that access must be permitted under Tri-County unless employees
are excluded for all purposes, including where supervisor expressly
authorized access (e.g., Piedmont Gardens, 360 NLRB No. 100 (2014))

Conflicts with other statutory requirements
0 Finding racist comments by picketers protected under Clear Pine Mouldings
because they were not direct threats (Cooper Tire & Rubber Co., 363 NLRB
No. 194 (2016))
0 Finding social media postings protected even though employee’s conduct
could violate EEO principles (e.g., Pier Sixty, LLC, 362 NLRB No. 59 (2015))

Weingarten
0 Expanding range of permissible conduct by union representatives in
Weingarten interviews (e.g., Fry’s Food Stores, 361 NLRB No. 140 (2015);
Howard Industries, 362 NLRB No. 35 (2015))
0 Application of Weingarten in the drug testing context (e.g., Manhattan Beer
Distributors, 362 NLRB No. 192 (2015))

Disparate treatment of represented employees during contract negotiations
0 Finding unlawful the failure to give a company-wide wage increase to newly
represented employees during initial contract bargaining, even though there
was no regular, established annual increase and the employer was concerned
that it would violate the Act if it unilaterally provided the increase to
represented employees (Arc Bridges, Inc., 362 NLRB No. 56 (2015))

Joint Employer
o0 Finding joint employer status based on evidence of indirect or potential
control over the working conditions of another employer’s employees
(Browning-Ferris Industries of California, Inc, d/b/a BFI Newby Island
Recyclery, 362 NLRB No. 186 (2015))

Successorship
o0 Finding Burns successorship based on the hiring of predecessor employees
that was required by local statute (e.g., GVS Properties, 362 NLRB No. 194

(2015))
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0 Finding “perfectly clear” successorship where employer had effectively
communicated its intent to set new terms prior to inviting existing
employees to accept employment (e.g., Creative Vision Resources, 364 NLRB
No.91 (2016))

0 Finding “perfectly clear” successorship where predecessor employer (but not
successor) had communicated to employees that they would receive
comparable wages and benefits from successor (Nexeo Solutions, 364 NLRB
No. 44 (2016))

- Unilateral changes consistent with past practice
0 Finding unlawful unilateral changes after contract expiration where changes
were similar to employer’s earlier practice (e.g., E.I. Dupont de Nemours, 364
NLRB No. 113 (2016), overruling Courier-Journal, 342 NLRB 1093, 342 NLRB
1148 (2004))

- Total Security
0 Establishing duty to bargain before imposing discretionary discipline where
parties have not executed initial collective bargaining agreement (364 NLRB
No. 106 (2016))

- Duty to provide witness statements to union
0 Finding that witness statements must be disclosed if that would be
appropriate under the Detroit Edison balancing test (Piedmont Gardens, 362
NLRB No. 139 (2015), overruling Anheuser-Busch, 237 NLRB 982 (1984))

- Dues check-off
0 Establishing that the dues check-off obligation survives expiration of the
collective-bargaining agreement (Lincoln Lutheran of Racine, 362 NLRB No.
188 (2015))

- Remedies
0 Search for work and interim employment expenses recoverable regardless of
whether discriminatee had interim earnings (King Soopers, 364 NLRB No. 93
(2016))
0 Employer required to remit dues unlawfully withheld without being able to
recoup them from employees (Alamo Rent-a-Car, 362 NLRB No. 135 (2015))

Fourth, new General Counsels have often identified novel legal theories that they
want explored through mandatory submissions to Advice. [ have not yet identified any
such initiatives, but I have decided that the following memos shall be rescinded:



Case: 17-60368  Document: 00514359233 Page: 6 Date Filed: 02/22/2018

GC 17-01 (General Counsel’s Report on the Statutory Rights of University Faculty
And Students in the Unfair Labor Practice Context)

GC 16-03 (Seeking Board Reconsideration of the Levitz Framework)
GC 15-04 (Report of the General Counsel Concerning Employer Rules)
GC 13-02 (Inclusion of Front Pay in Board Settlements)

GC 12-01 (Guideline Memorandum Concerning Collyer Deferral)

GC 11-04 (Default Language)

OM 17-02 (Model Brief Regarding Intermittent and Partial Strikes) (Regions should
submit cases involving intermittent strikes to Advice)

Likewise, the following initiatives set out in Advice memoranda are no longer in
effect:

- seeking to extend Purple Communications to other electronic systems (e.g., internet,
phones, instant messaging) if employees use those regularly in the course of their work

- seeking to overturn the Board’s Tri-cast doctrine regarding the legality of employer
statements to employees, during organizing campaigns, that they will not be able to discuss
matters directly with management if they select union representation

- seeking to overturn Oil Capitol and put the burden of proof on respondent to demonstrate
that a salt would not have remained with the employer for the duration of the claimed
backpay period

- arguing that an employer’s misclassification of employees as independent contractors, in
and of itself, violates Section 8(a)(1) (but Regions should submit to Advice any case where
there is evidence that the employer actively used the misclassification of employees to
interfere with Section 7 activity)

- seeking to overturn IBM and apply Weingarten in non-union settings

[ hope this guidance is helpful, and I look forward to working with you.

/s/
P.B.R.

MEMORANDUM GC 18-02
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UPnited States Court of Appeals
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT

No. 16-1238 September Term, 2017

FILED ON: JANUARY 29, 2018

GRILL CONCEPTS SERVICES, INC., D/B/A THE DAILY GRILL,
PETITIONER/CROSS-RESPONDENT

V.

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,
RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER,

AND

UNITE HERE LocAL 11,
INTERVENOR

On Petition for Review and Cross-Application for Enforcement
of an Order of the National Labor Relations Board

Before: HENDERSON and WILKINS, Circuit Judges, and RANDOLPH, Senior Circuit Judge.

JUDGMENT

The petition for review and the cross-petition for enforcement were considered on the
record and the briefs (including the supplemental briefs) filed by the parties. See FED. R. App. P.
34(a)(2); D.C. CIR. R. 34(j). The Court has accorded the issues full consideration and determined
that they do not warrant a published opinion. For the reasons stated below, it is

ORDERED and ADJUDGED that the cross-petition for enforcement is granted in part
and the petition for review is remanded.

In the order on review, the National Labor Relations Board (Board) found that Petitioner
Grill Concepts Services, Inc. (Company) committed multiple unfair labor practices prohibited by
the National Labor Relations Act (Act). Grill Concepts Servs., Inc., 364 NLRB No. 36 (2016).
Among them: some of the Company’s employee handbook rules violated section 8(a)(1) of the
Act, 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1), under the then-Board test pursuant to which employee handbook rules
are considered unfair labor practices if employees can “reasonably construe” the rules as
prohibiting the exercise of protected labor activity, see Martin Luther Mem’l Home, Inc., 343
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NLRB 646, 647 (2004). On December 14, 2017, the Board overruled the “reasonably construe”
test and announced a new standard to take its place. Boeing Co., 365 NLRB No. 154 (2017). We
now grant summary enforcement of those decisions both unchallenged by the Company and of
which the Board continues to seek enforcement. We remand the remainder of the case to the Board.

We grant summary enforcement of five Board decisions. The Board found the Company
violated section 8(a)(1) by: (1) impliedly threatening an employee with job loss unless he ceased
supporting the union; (2) interrogating employees about their union activities; (3) creating the
impression that employees’ union activity was under surveillance; (4) soliciting grievances; and
(5) maintaining a handbook rule prohibiting employees from “solicit[ing] or distribut[ing]
literature concerning outside activities or merchandise while in their work area or while on-duty.”
Joint Appendix (JA) 529, 554-55. The Company did not challenge any of these Board decisions
in its petition for review and, because none of them are affected by the new Boeing standard, the
Board continues to seek enforcement thereof. See NLRB Supp. Br. 7. “Because [the Company]
does not contest the Board’s determinations . . . we summarily enforce the Board’s findings and
order on these charges.” Allied Mech. Servs., Inc. v. NLRB, 668 F.3d 758, 765 (D.C. Cir. 2012).

Seven Board decisions—five challenged in the Company’s petition, two unchallenged—
rest on the Board’s now-overruled “reasonably construe” test. Six concluded that rules included in
the Company’s employee handbook violated the Act: (1) the “Team Member Relations/Positive
Culture” rule; (2) the “Timekeeping” rule; (3) the “Team Member Conduct While Representing
the Restaurant” rule; (4) the “Online Communications” rule; (5) the “Progressive Discipline: Gross
Misconduct (confidentiality)” rule; and (6) the “Progressive Discipline: Gross Misconduct
(investigations)” rule. JA 529, 548-55. One concluded that a rule contained in the Company’s
Dispute Resolution Arbitration Agreement that subjects “employment-related disputes” to
arbitration violated the Act.! JA 529, 559 (rule violated section 8(a)(1) “because employees would
reasonably believe it encompasses Board charges”). Because the Board’s decisions regarding
these seven matters rest on the now-replaced “reasonably construe” test, the Board no longer seeks
enforcement thereof and instead seeks remand to reconsider them in light of the new Boeing test.
See NLRB Supp. Br. 5. We accordingly remand. See NLRB v. Food Store Emps. Union, Local
347,417 U.S. 1,10 n.10 (1974) (“[A] court reviewing an agency decision following an intervening
change of policy by the agency should remand . . . .”); Williston Basin Interstate Pipeline Co. v.
FERC, 165 F.3d 54, 62 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“[W]hen an agency changes a policy or rule underlying
a decision pending review, the agency should” move to remand or explain how decision can be
independently sustained (internal quotation omitted)).

We also remand the remaining Board decisions the Company challenged in its petition for
review. Specifically, we remand the Board’s determinations that the Company violated the Act by
(1) prohibiting union buttons; (2) promising employees several benefits to discourage union
support; and (3) maintaining the Code of Ethics: Relationships with Outside Parties employee
handbook rule. JA 529-31. Although these determinations are unaffected by the new Boeing test,
we believe it would waste judicial resources to hear and decide them now while, at the same time,

! Another challenge regarding the Dispute Resolution Arbitration Agreement—the enforceability
of its class-action waiver—was severed from this case on March 30, 2017 and held in abeyance pending
Supreme Court review of the issue. See Grill Concepts Services v. NLRB, Case Nos. 17-1100, 17-1121.
This order does not affect that case.
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a substantial part of the case is remanded. See Williams v. First Gov’t Mortg. & Inv’rs Corp., 176
F.3d 497, 500 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (noting general “desire to avoid deciding [the] case piecemeal”);
Linder v. Dep’t of Def., 133 F.3d 17, 23 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (stating, in different context, policy

against “piecemeal litigation” because it may lead to “mischief of economic waste and of delayed
justice” (internal quotation omitted)).

Pursuant to D.C. Circuit Rule 36, this disposition will not be published. The Clerk is
directed to withhold issuance of the mandate herein until seven days after resolution of any timely
petition for rehearing or rehearing en banc. See Fed. R. App. P. 41(b); D.C. Cir. R. 41.

PER CURIAM
FOR THE COURT:
Mark J. Langer, Clerk
BY: /s/

Ken Meadows
Deputy Clerk
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